D. ...

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

APR 21 2014

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Spartanburg County  
J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAMES IRBY,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2012-213028

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

ROBERT M. DUDEK  
Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense  
Division of Appellate Defense  
PO Box 11589  
Columbia, SC 29211-1589  
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Whether the court erred by ruling appellant's confession was admissible where Detective Danny Morgan admitted he told appellant he could be "thrown to the wolves" if he continued to maintain his innocence and Morgan also acknowledged he told appellant of another defendant who allegedly received the maximum sentence because he only belatedly admitted his guilt since appellant's confession was induced by threats and the promise of a lesser sentence if he confessed and it was not admissible?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant was indicted by the Spartanburg County Grand Jury for the offense of criminal sexual conduct with a minor in the second degree. R. 309. A Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964) hearing was held on January 29, 2011 before the Honorable J. Derham Cole. Christopher Brough represented appellant. Susan Reese and Jennifer Jordan were the assistant solicitors. R. 1. At the conclusion of the Jackson v. Denno hearing Judge Cole took the matter of the admissibility of appellant's statements under advisement. R. 95, ll. 7-8.

Appellant's case came on for trial on November 18, 2012 before the Honorable J. Derham Cole. Christopher Brough represented appellant. Susan Reese was the assistant solicitor. R. 96. Judge Cole ruled immediately prior to trial that motion to suppress appellant's confession was denied. R. 97, ll. 1-9.

On November 19, 2012 the jury found appellant guilty. R. 295, ll. 7-12. Judge Cole sentenced appellant to eighteen years imprisonment. R. 297, ll. 1-3.

This appeal follows.

## ARGUMENT

The court erred by ruling appellant's confession was admissible where Detective Danny Morgan admitted he told appellant he could be "thrown to the wolves" if he continued to maintain his innocence and Morgan also acknowledged he told appellant of another defendant who allegedly received the maximum sentence because he only belatedly admitted his guilt since appellant's confession was induced by threats and the promise of a lesser sentence if he confessed and it was not admissible.

### **Jackson v. Denno hearing**

A Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368 (1964), hearing was held on January 29, 2011. Spartanburg Department of Social Services worker Brenda Azzara testified that on November 14, 2007 that appellant was asked to come in for an interview. Appellant and his wife came to the Department of Social Services office in Spartanburg in their own automobile. Detective Tonya Aldredge was also invited to the interview by Azzara. The interview concerned appellant allegedly having sexual contact with his thirteen year old stepdaughter. R. 11, l. 3 – 12, l. 12.

Detective Aldredge read appellant his Miranda<sup>1</sup> rights and had him sign a pre-interrogation waiver form. R. 12, ll. 16-19. Azzara recalled that appellant spoke "freely and willing" during the entire interview. R. 13, ll. 12-15.

Appellant told Aldredge and Azzara that the allegations were not true. He told his stepdaughter to clean her room, and that if he did not see progress she was not going on the class field trip to the Biltmore Estates. Appellant explained that he and the minor's mother had a hard time coping with the problems the minor was having at home and at school.

---

<sup>1</sup> Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

Appellant related that on the evening he told his stepdaughter she could not go on the field trip “she got mad and went into her room.” Appellant recalled: [T]he next thing he knew Jennifer [his wife’s sister and the stepdaughter’s Aunt] and the police were there.” R. 14, ll. 4-25. Appellant told Azzara and Aldredge that the child made the story up out of spite because she could not go on the field trip. R. 14, l. 25 – 15, l. 13.

Azzara testified that appellant refused to take a polygraph exam at a later date, and he stated he did not “believe in them.” R. 18, ll. 3-17. Appellant did not make any admissions of guilt, and he did not ask for an attorney. He was not arrested, and left after the interview. R. 19, ll. 7-13.

Detective Aldredge was the state’s next witness. Aldredge said she was merely present at the November 14, 2007 interview at DSS, and that Azzara asked all of the questions. R. 20, l. 14 – 21, l. 11.

Aldredge said she next saw appellant at the “detention center” on November 30, 2007, where he apparently was present for failure to pay child support. R. 21, l. 21 – 22, l. 1. Aldredge admitted appellant did not sign a pre-interrogation form before she spoke to him. R. 39, l. 25 – 40, l. 10. Aldredge again asked appellant if he would take a polygraph exam, and this time appellant agreed. Aldredge said the polygraph exam was then scheduled for December 5, 2007. R. 22, ll. 2-23.

Aldredge recalled that on December 5, 2007, prior to the polygraph examination, appellant offered to write his own statement. Aldredge said it took appellant about thirty minutes to write the statement. R. 302. R. 23, l. 24 – 24, l. 25.

Aldredge said after appellant finished his statement she took him to Detective Danny Morgan who was the polygraph operator. R. 25, ll. 4-13. Appellant denied he did anything

improper in his written statement. He wrote that his stepdaughter did not like to behave, and she made a sexually explicit remark to him that he reported to his wife, the minor's mother. State's exhibit 3, R. 301; R. 25, ll. 4-16.

Aldredge remembered appellant had to be at his family court hearing on December 5, 2007, so she brought him to the courthouse after the polygraph exam. Detective Morgan testified that appellant finished the polygraph but he did not have time to tell him the results before appellant was taken to his family court hearing. Aldredge said on the way back from the family court hearing she stopped at McDonald's and got appellant something to eat. R. 26, ll. 1-23.

Azzara confirmed appellant gave the five page statement after the polygraph exam, and then another one page statement. These are the inculpatory statements at issue. R. 28, ll. 15-25. Aldredge not locate the pre-interrogation waiver form from December 5, 2007 but she insisted: "I did read him his rights. I believe he signed a pre-interrogation form, but I could not locate that form." R. 31, l. 7 – 33, l. 12. On cross-examination Aldredge denied that she in fact never advised appellant of his Miranda warnings on December 5, 2007 and she insisted she read appellant his rights. R. 41, l. 13 – 42, l. 7.

The key witness during the Jackson v. Denno hearing was polygraph operator Danny Morgan. Morgan was subsequently terminated from the Sheriff's Department for "making some inappropriate comments while I was working a part time job." He denied he was terminated for misconduct while conducting a polygraph exam. R. 58, l. 25 – 59, l. 8.

Morgan identified the waiver of rights form he had appellant sign at 11:00 a.m. on December 5, 2007. R. 44, ll. 4-8; R. 301, State's exhibit 3.

Morgan testified appellant was cooperative during the polygraph exam. After the polygraph exam was completed he received a telephone call stating that appellant “had to be in family court sometime around 2:00 or something like that. And routinely the polygraph process to get to completion usually runs between two and a half, around two and a half hours, maybe three.” R. 48, ll. 6-25.

Morgan testified once appellant arrived back at the police station from family court he spoke with him about the results of the polygraph exam. Morgan informed appellant that he had failed the polygraph exam. Morgan said appellant then “began to change his ‘story’” about thirty minutes later. R. 50, ll. 2-9; R. 62, ll. 10-23. Morgan admitted the obvious -- that if appellant confessed it made his case much better. R. 63, l. 25 – 64, l. 3. The following occurred on cross-examination of Detective Morgan after defense counsel played a portion of the DVD of the interrogation that is now before this Court:

(Whereupon, the tape was played.)

Q. Now, you talk to him about going this way or going that way. Would you agree with me that you were talking about choosing to remain silent or choosing to confess?

A. No, not choosing to remain silent, *about choosing to continue to lie about the allegation or what he had done or choosing to tell the truth about what he had done.* That’s what I was talking about.

Q. You indicated that you said you’re not saying you can make it all better. Do you recall saying that?

A. Yes.

Q. Would you agree with me that that also implies you can make at least some of it a little better?

A. No, sir. The very statement says, *was that I can help you to understand what will happen or what is likely to happen. That was based on my experience. So the portion of that was*

*to help him to understand where he was at based on the choices that he might make.*

R. 63, l. 6-24. (emphasis added).

Morgan admitted he talked to appellant about being him “throwing him to the wolves” because Morgan said “from the standpoint of my past experience this is what could happen.” R. 64, l. 12 – 65, l. 3.

Morgan said he talked to appellant about being “thrown to the wolves” because he wanted appellant to understand what his “choices could be.” R. 66, ll. 2-13. Morgan admitted to telling appellant about another defendant who would not confess, “and he got the maximum sentence. That’s what you told Mr. Irby.” Morgan did not deny telling appellant about another defendant who got the maximum sentence and the following occurred:

A. And I made a distinction that that was different person and the ages of those children were like six and seven.

Q. Okay. So, in other words, you didn’t tell him specifically he would get the maximum sentence, but you talked about other people in the context of giving him choices, correct?

A. I told him about things that I had seen happen before.

Q. And this is after the conversation where you basically told him that if he wasn’t truthful you didn’t want to see him thrown to the wolves, correct?

A. Yes.

Q. Okay. You’d agree with me that those are coercive efforts, correct?

A. No, sir.

Q. You used a good bit of psychology in this interview to get him to confess, didn’t you?

A. I'm not a psychologist. I just talk to people.

Q. Talked to Mr. Irby for a long time, didn't you?

A. Yes, I did.

R. 68, l. 22 – 69, l. 16.

On re-direct examination the solicitor asked Morgan about a portion of the tape where Morgan told appellant about another defendant who had gotten sixty years in prison. Morgan's point to appellant, as he again stated before the jury, was that the defendant's belated confession came too late to help him. R. 69, l. 20 – 70, l. 14; R. 203, ll. 10-25. The entire tapes of the interrogations, State's exhibits 2 and 3, are before this Court for review since court reporters refuse to transcribe the **actual portions** of the DVD's as they are played live in court. Regardless, the import was obvious that there was a point of no return for appellant and that he had better confess so that he too did not get thrown to the wolves and receive the maximum sentence.

Appellant then took the stand in his own defense. He testified that Morgan "was saying that, you know, if I didn't tell him something they would give me so many years, and if I did tell him something, then they would give me like five or four years." Appellant said after he took the polygraph is when he started feeling the threats. He testified that he was in leg irons at the time, in a small interrogation room, and that Detective Morgan was a bigger man. R. 74, l. 1 – 76, l. 10.

Consistently with the officer's testimony appellant said he was told if he didn't tell Morgan "something, then they was going to give me the maximum." Appellant said conversely he was told he would probably four or five years if he confessed. R. 74, l. 1 – 75, l. 5; 76, l. 18 – 79, l. 12.

Defense Counsel Brough argued that appellant was told he needed to confess or he was going “**to be thrown to the wolves.**” Brough said Detective Morgan clearly conveyed to appellant that if he talked to Morgan and told him the truth he would be treated better “and less harshly, because given Detective Morgan’s experience with people that he had dealt with in the past that didn’t come forward **and had to have it dragged out of them received the maximum sentence.**” R. 92, ll. 4-12. (emphasis added). Brough argued that this was a threat and that confessions given by threats or promises, however slight, were not admissible. R. 92, l. 4 – 93, l. 16.

The assistant solicitor attempted to argue that Morgan was trying to convey to appellant that “look you’ve got two roads to go down, you can take one of two, in my experience it’s better to tell the truth.” R. 94, ll. 20-23.

The defense and solicitor agreed that the judge should consider the portions of the DVD showed to him in court, and he did not need to view the entire interrogations to understand the points that were made. R. 87, l. 2 – 88, l. 9.

### **The Trial**

As stated above, prior to the trial beginning the judge summarily denied the motion to suppress appellant’s confession. Appellant’s seventeen-year-old stepdaughter then testified and claimed that on one occasion appellant grabbed her from behind and started to pull down her underwear. R. 107, l. 5 – 108, l. 8. The minor said she talked to her mother about it but her mother did not believe appellant had done anything to her. R. 108, ll. 16-24.

The minor maintained on other occasions appellant would come into her room and touch her on her leg. She said she would tell appellant to stop and he would leave the room. R. 109, l. 6 – 110, l. 21.

The stepdaughter testified that one time appellant forcibly had sex with her. She said she told her mother twice about the incident. She said she called her aunt because her mother thought she was lying. The minor said her aunt called the police, and the police came to their house. R. 111, l. 6 – 112, l. 23.

The stepdaughter insisted she would “screamed” for her mother when she was sexually assaulted. She claimed her mother made no effort to check on her when she screamed. R. 116, ll. 5-17.

The minor remembered going to one counseling session together with her mother at the insistence of the Department of Social Services. R. 117, ll. 16-21. Appellant’s wife, and the child’s mother, Ms. C. said during the counseling session she asked her daughter three times if anything happened. Her daughter, and appellant’s stepdaughter, told her three times that “nothing happened.” Ms. C. remembered that the counselor terminated the session. R. 217, l. 11 – 219, l. 6; Defendant’s exhibit # 1, Supp. R. p 1.

Gina Odem, the counselor, was called as a reply witness. Odem claimed that the child did not recant her allegations in that single session with her mother. Odem said she thought the presence of Ms. C. in the future was going to be “counterproductive” since she thought her daughter was lying. R. 235, l. 5 – 237, l. 23.

Detective Danny Morgan testified before the jury about the December 5, 2007 interrogation of appellant. Morgan said the interrogation started at about 9:30 in the morning and that appellant had a break for a family court hearing before the interview again resumed. R. 174, l. 18 – 180, l. 18; R. 199, ll. 20-24.

On cross-examination Morgan admitted he had told appellant he would hate to see him “thrown to the wolves.” Morgan said that he was confident appellant had sexual conduct with his stepdaughter. R. 204, ll. 1-21.

Morgan also admitted he told appellant about another man who had received the maximum sentence because it took him “a very long time to come out with the truth and at that point that person . . . kind of like had his back against the wall and had no choice but to give the truth he finally did give the truth” and he ended up receiving the maximum penalty on it. R. 203, l. 10 – 204, l. 21. Morgan said he did not view any of this as a threat. R. 204, ll. 22-23.

Appellant testified in his own defense and denied sexually abusing his stepdaughter. Appellant said he confessed because he was threatened, and told that he would be “thrown to the wolves” if he did not admit to having sex with his stepdaughter. Appellant testified that he and his wife discussed Morgan’s statement that he would probably do about five years if he admitted the sexual misconduct “even though I didn’t do nothing. That is what I was going to do. But I did not do this.” R. 234, ll. 14-19; R. 231, l. 18 – 232, l. 17.

### **Discussion**

As seen, Detective Morgan acknowledged telling appellant he could be “thrown to the wolves” or he did not want to see him “thrown to the wolves” because he would not be “truthful.” Detective Morgan also admitted he talked to appellant about another defendant who received the maximum sentence because he did not admit his guilt until it was too late in the process for him to be helped. Appellant also testified that Morgan mentioned a sentence of about five years if he was “truthful”, and when compared with the threat of the maximum sentence and being “thrown to the wolves” he confessed.

In addition to feeling threatened by the above, appellant noted he was in a small room with Detective Morgan who was a bigger man while appellant was in leg irons after a long day of interrogation.

In State v. Osborne, 301 S.C. 363, 392 S.E.2d 178 (1990) the Supreme Court considered a case where the defendant was told she did not have to say anything but if she withheld evidence she could be charged with a crime. The Supreme Court found that the defendant's confession given under these circumstances was coerced.

In State v. Rochester, 301 S.C. 196, 391 S.E.2d 244 (1990), the Supreme Court held that a confession induced by threats or promises, however slight, was not admissible. The Court in State v. Osborne distinguished Rochester on the grounds that the polygraph examiner in Rochester only told the defendant that it would be "in his best interest" to tell the truth." The present case is Osborne and not Rochester.

Detective Morgan admitted he talked to appellant about "being thrown to the wolves," and told him about another defendant who received the maximum sentence because his cooperation with the police came too late in the process. Appellant was informed essentially that time was of the essence to tell the truth. Otherwise he was passing the point of no return, and he would be "thrown to the wolves."

Appellant's confession in this case was induced by these threats and the promise that if he confessed he would be treated less harshly, and even with leniency. In Clanton v. Cooper, 129 F.3d 1147 (10<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1997), a civil §1983 case, the Court held that falsely telling a defendant that physical evidence linked him to the crime was insufficient to establish a coerced confession; but telling the defendant he would get a twenty-five year sentence if he

did not confess and “would get off lightly” if the defendant confessed created a jury issue in the violation of a constitutional right under the color of state law action.