ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Spartanburg County
Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2012-213028

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

JAMES IRBY,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JULIE KATE KEENEY
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

APR 10 2014

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Spartanburg County
Honorable J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2012-213028

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

JAMES IRBY,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

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

ARGUMENT

I.

The trial judge properly admitted Appellant's statements into evidence after determining Appellant made the statements knowingly and voluntarily under the totality of the circumstances.

Appellant contends the trial judge erred in admitting his statements to law enforcement into evidence. However, viewing the totality of the circumstances, Appellant made the statements knowingly and voluntarily. Detective Morgan did not threaten Appellant or promise Appellant anything in return for a confession. Further, even if this Court were to find that Detective Morgan's comments were a threat or a promise, Appellant's will was not overborne by the comments. Accordingly, as Appellant's will was not overborne and his statements were freely and voluntarily made, the trial court properly admitted Appellant's statements into evidence, and its ruling was fully supported by the evidence. Thus, Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.

Standard of Review

In criminal cases, appellate courts sit to review errors of law only. State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). On appeal, the trial judge's decision as to the voluntariness of a statement will not be reversed unless the ruling was so erroneous it constituted an abuse of discretion. State v. Simmons, 384 S.C. 145, 162, 682 S.E.2d 19, 28 (Ct. App. 2009). "Factual conclusions as to the voluntariness of a statement will not be disturbed on appeal unless so manifestly erroneous as to show an abuse of discretion." State v. Arrowood, 375 S.C. 359, 365, 652 S.E.2d 438, 441 (Ct. App. 2007). "When reviewing a trial court's ruling concerning voluntariness, [the appellate court] does not reevaluate the facts based on its own view of the preponderance

of the evidence, but simply determines whether the trial court's ruling is supported by **any evidence.**" State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 136, 551 S.E.2d 240, 252 (2001) (emphasis added).

Analysis

"[T]he prosecution may not use statements, whether exculpatory or inculpatory, stemming from custodial interrogation of the defendant unless it demonstrates the use of procedural safeguards effective to secure the privilege against self-incrimination." Miranda, 384 U.S. at 444. Prior to custodial interrogation, a suspect must be warned he has a right to remain silent, any of his statements may be used against him, he has a right to an attorney, and an attorney will be appointed to him prior to any questioning if he desires one and cannot afford one. Id. at 479. Once those warnings are given to a suspect and the suspect is afforded an opportunity to exercise his rights, the suspect may knowingly and intelligently waive those rights and make a statement. Id.

However, a confession or statement by a defendant is not admissible unless voluntarily made. State v. Myers, 359 S.C. 40, 47, 596 S.E.2d 488, 492 (2004). If a defendant is advised of his constitutional rights and then chooses to make a statement, the burden is on the State to prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the defendant voluntarily waived his rights. State v. Rochester, 301 S.C. 196, 200, 391 S.E.2d 244, 246 (1990). "The process for ascertaining whether a statement is voluntary is bifurcated because the process involves determinations by both the trial judge and the jury." State v. Breeze, 379 S.C. 538, 543, 665 S.E.2d 247, 250 (Ct. App. 2008). Pursuant to the bifurcated process, the trial judge must first determine in an evidentiary hearing whether the State proved the statement was voluntarily made by a preponderance of the evidence

and then, if the trial judge finds the State met its burden, the statement is submitted to the jury where its voluntariness must be proven beyond a reasonable doubt. Id.

The critical factor in an evaluation of the voluntariness of a defendant's statements is whether the defendant's will was overborne when he confessed. State v. Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. 234, 244, 471 S.E.2d 689, 695 (1996); see also Miller v. Fenton, 796 F.2d 598, 604 (3rd Cir. 1986) ("We emphasize that the test for voluntariness is not a but-for test: we do not ask whether the confession would have been made in the absence of the interrogation. Few criminals feel impelled to confess to the police purely of their own accord, without any questioning at all."). "If a suspect's will is overborne and his capacity for self-determination critically impaired, use of the resulting confession offends due process." Saltz, 346 S.C. at 136, 551 S.E.2d at 252.

When considering the voluntariness and admissibility of a defendant's statements, the trial judge should examine the totality of the circumstances under which the statements were made, including the characteristics of the accused and the details of the interrogation, to determine whether the State has met its burden of proof. State v. Rabon, 275 S.C. 459, 461, 272 S.E.2d 634, 635 (1980). Factors to be considered in the totality of the circumstances analysis include: (1) the age of the accused; (2) the educational level and intelligence of the accused; (3) the accused's knowledge of his constitutional rights; (4) the length of the accused's detention; (5) the nature of the questioning and whether it was repeated and prolonged; and (6) the presence or absence of the use of punishment, including deprivation of food or sleep. Schneekloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 226 (1973).

Notably, "[t]he mere existence of threats, violence, implied promises, improper influence, or other coercive police activity, however, does not automatically render a

confession involuntary. The proper inquiry ‘is whether the defendant's will has been ‘overborne’ or his ‘capacity for self-determination critically impaired.’” United States v. Braxton, 112 F.3d 777, 780 (4th Cir. 1997). Accordingly, a threat or promise in connection with a confession does not render a confession per se involuntary. Arizona v. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 285 (1991); Rose v. Lee, 252 F.3d 676, 685 (4th Cir. 2001). Instead, courts look at the totality of the circumstances when determining whether or not a confession was unconstitutionally coerced. Lee, 252 F.3d at 685.

In State v. Osborne, our Supreme Court held that the defendant’s statements were involuntary and inadmissible because the police threatened the defendant on numerous occasions. State v. Osborne, 301 S.C. 363, 366, 392 S.E.2d 178, 179 (1990). The officers told the defendant that “she would be charged with ‘withholding evidence’ if she did not make a statement.” Id. at 365, 392 S.E.2d at 179. Additionally, the officers told the defendant that her previous statement “did not ‘fit the facts’ and therefore she must make another statement or face charges for ‘withholding evidence.’” Id. The Court noted that the defendant was advised of her right to remain silent but then told she would be charged with a crime if she withheld evidence. Id. at 367, 392 S.E.2d at 180. Because the threats were of such a coercive nature, the defendant’s statements were inadmissible. Id. 366, 392 S.E.2d at 179.

In Rochester, our Supreme Court held that the defendant’s statement was voluntary and admissible. Rochester, 301 S.C. at 200, 391 S.E.2d at 246. The polygraph examiner told the defendant that he knew the defendant was lying, and “‘it would be certainly, probably, in his best interest to tell the truth.’” Id. at 199, 391 S.E.2d at 246. Our Supreme Court reasoned that the polygraph examiner’s statement was not a promise

of leniency because the statement was “not on its face an inducement or hope of lighter punishment.” Id. at 200-01, 391 S.E.2d at 247.

A. Wolves Comment

In this case, the evidence and testimony presented during trial established Appellant’s statements were knowingly and voluntarily made under the totality of the circumstances.

Regarding the circumstances under which the statements were made, the State presented testimony establishing Appellant, who was thirty-eight years old at the time of the interview, was informed of his rights, appeared to understand those rights, waived those rights, and signed a waiver of rights form before he was interviewed by Detective Morgan. Although the interview was rather lengthy, the interview itself was conducted in a non-confrontational manner. Appellant had a break for an hour or two in between the two interviews and was given food. Further, Appellant was offered breaks throughout the course of the interview. Moreover, Appellant’s demeanor throughout the video appeared to be calm and relaxed.

Detective Morgan told Appellant numerous times that he was in no way threatening Appellant or promising Appellant anything. In fact, during the interview, Appellant noted that he had not been threatened or promised anything. As for the wolves comment made by Detective Morgan, the comment was more akin to the comment in Rochester. Detective Morgan was merely pointing out that it was in Appellant’s best interest to tell the truth.

Further, even if the wolves comment could be construed as some type of threat, Appellant’s will was not overborne by the comment. In fact, Appellant did not confess to

the crime immediately after Detective Morgan made the wolves comment. Instead, Appellant blamed Victim for performing oral sex on him while he was sleeping.

Notably, immediately before Detective Morgan made the wolves comment he told Appellant: “James, there has been sexual contact between you and [Victim]. You have been involved in having sex with her. Thus, Appellant’s statement regarding Victim performing oral sex on him while he was asleep was most likely the result of Detective Morgan telling Appellant that he knew Appellant was lying, not the wolves comment.

Further supporting the voluntariness of the statement, Appellant responded appropriately to the questions asked of him during the interview, appeared to fully understand the questions being asked of him, and denied committing the alleged acts while blaming Victim for any inappropriate behavior. Cf. State v. Pendergrass, 270 S.C. 1, 8-9, 239 S.E.2d 750, 753 (1977) (“In this case, appellant, a man with a twelfth grade education who had previously served time in jail, signed a written express waiver of his right to counsel. The voluntariness of the waiver can be discerned from the fact that the statement which followed it was self-serving and was an attempt on appellant’s part to cast the blame on his co-defendant.”).

B. Other Defendant Comment

In addition, Detective Morgan’s comment regarding another defendant receiving the maximum sentence was neither a threat nor a promise of a lesser sentence if Appellant confessed. In fact, around thirty-two minutes into the second interview, Detective Morgan reminded Appellant that it was important for Appellant to be completely honest. “I’m not telling you that if you do this then you’re going to get this kind of deal . . . I do not have any kind of power at all to make deals.” Detective Morgan

explained that he was going to tell Appellant about things he had seen in his experience. Detective Morgan stated: “None of this is designed to tell you that you should do this or you should do that. Those are choices you are going to have to make.” Thereafter, Detective Morgan told Appellant that he believed that more sexual activity occurred between Victim and Appellant. (State’s Exh. 3 from Hearing (DVD).)

Approximately thirty-nine minutes into the second interview, Detective Morgan told Appellant he “really [does not] believe that [Appellant] would have done these things without [Victim] initiating it. But the fact is there has been a lot more happened between you.” Thereafter, Detective Morgan urged Appellant to tell the truth. Approximately forty-one minutes into the second interview, Detective Morgan told Appellant about a defendant who eventually told the truth. That defendant molested children that were six and seven years old and ultimately received the maximum sentence for each child, and the sentences ran consecutively. (State’s Exh. 3 from Hearing (DVD).)

Approximately one hour and twenty-four minutes into the interview, Detective Morgan asked Appellant if he wanted to provide a corrected statement. Appellant stated that he did want to provide a corrected statement, and that he was “not trying to do no 30 or 60 years. . . .” Detective Morgan told Appellant that he was not threatening Appellant with 30 or 60 years. The case he described earlier involved younger girls. Moreover, Detective Morgan told Appellant multiple times that he did not have the power to offer Appellant a deal. Thus, Detective Morgan made it clear to Appellant that he was not threatening Appellant with any type of sentence, and he did not have the power to offer Appellant any type of deal. (State’s Exh. 3 from Hearing (DVD).)

Interestingly, the only non-self-serving statement Appellant made was when Detective Morgan tried to end the interview, which was hours after Detective Morgan made the wolves comment. Notably, even after Detective Morgan made those comments, Appellant refused to confess to touching Victim 2 inappropriately. If Appellant's will was so overborne by Detective Morgan's comments, then Appellant would have confessed to touching Victim 2 as well.

Looking at the totality of the circumstances surrounding Appellant's statements, nothing presented during trial suggested Appellant's will was overborne at the time he made the statements. See Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. at 244, 471 S.E.2d at 695 ("The pertinent inquiry is, as always, whether the defendant's will was 'overborne.'"). Instead, the testimony presented by the State along with the actual recording of the interview itself established Appellant's statements were knowingly and voluntarily made after Appellant was informed of and waived his rights.

Therefore, the trial court properly admitted Appellant's statements into evidence after determining the statements were knowingly and voluntarily made, and its ruling was fully supported by the evidence and testimony presented during trial. See Arrowood, 375 S.C. at 369, 652 S.E.2d at 443 ("The trial judge's determination is not in error if there is any evidence in the record to support it."). Accordingly, Appellant's conviction and sentence should be affirmed.